
MINUTES OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 

August 11, 2014 

 

 

The regular meeting of the Plan Commission was called to order by Chairman Mark Moore at 

7:05 p.m. at the Village Hall. 

 

Members present:  Chairman Mark Moore, Scott Adams, Walter Oakley, Kurt Schultz, and 

David Semmelman. 

 

Members absent:  William Cotey and Dan Donahue. 

 

Village Staff present:  John Spoden, Director of Community Development; David Smith, Senior 

Planner; Johanna Bye, Associate Planner; and Fred Chung, Senior Project Engineer. 

 

OLD BUSINESS: None. 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

PC 14-14 Manchester Square LLC, Applicant 

  115 Lake Street 

 

Request is for a Special Use Permit for a Planned Development in order to construct 

multiple dwelling units on the second and third floor of the Manchester Square 

building located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee Avenue in 

the C-1, Downtown Core Commercial District. 

 

PC 14-15 Manchester Square LLC, Applicant 

  115 Lake Street 

 

Request is for a Planned Development Concept Plan in order to construct multiple 

dwelling units on the second and third floor of the Manchester Square building 

located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee Avenue in the C-1, 

Downtown Core Commercial District. 

 

PC 14-16 Manchester Square LLC, Applicant 

  115 Lake Street 

 

Request is for a Planned Development Final Plan in order to construct multiple 

dwelling units on the second and third floor of the Manchester Square building 

located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee Avenue in the C-1, 

Downtown Core Commercial District. 

 

PC 14-17 Manchester Square LLC, Applicant 

  115 Lake Street 

 

Request is for a Special Use Permit for Payment in Lieu of providing park spaces in 

order to construct multiple dwelling units on the second and third floor of the 



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 2 of 14 

 

Manchester Square building located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and 

Milwaukee Avenue in the C-1, Downtown Core Commercial District. 

 

Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, stated that in 2006 the Village Board approved an Exterior 

Design and Landscaping Plan in order to permit the construction of the three-story, mixed use 

Manchester Square building for the property located at the southwest corner of Milwaukee 

Avenue and Lake Street.  Mr. Smith stated a Development Agreement was negotiated and 

subsequently approved in 2006 for the development.  He stated that the Development Agreement 

reflected the owner’s intent to construct commercial uses on the first floor and residential 

condominium units on the second and third floors. 

 

Mr. Smith stated that the Development Agreement required that 76 parking spaces be provided 

for the site.   

 

Mr. Smith stated that fourteen (14) residential condominium units were proposed for the second 

and third floors of the new Manchester Square building.   

 

Mr. Smith stated that the prior owner built a three story mixed use building with parking below 

ground under the building with 36 parking spaces and 40 spaces on the surface, most of which lie 

on the west side of the building, two are centered in the court yard that opens up to Lake Street.  

Mr. Smith stated that the ground floor is currently occupied with restaurant uses.  He stated that 

the fourteen (14) residential condominium units were never completely built out before the 

building went into financial receivership. 

 

Mr. Smith stated that the petitioner, Cedar Street Companies, a.k.a. Manchester Square LLC, 

purchased the Manchester Square building in its entirety in 2013 and submitted an application to 

the Village of Libertyville for the following actions on June 6, 2014, in order to build out 40 

apartments, 20 on the second floor and 20 on the third floor. 

 

1. Request is for a Special Use Permit for a Planned Development in order to construct 

multiple dwelling units on the second and third floor of the Manchester Square building 

located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee Avenue in the C-1 

Downtown Core Commercial District. 

 

2. Request is for a Planned Development Concept Plan in order to construct multiple 

dwelling units on the second and third floor of the Manchester Square building located at 

the southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee Avenue in the C-1 Downtown Core 

Commercial District.  

 

3. Request is for a Planned Development Final Plan in order to construct multiple dwelling 

units on the second and third floor of the Manchester Square building located at the 

southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee Avenue in the C-1 Downtown Core 

Commercial District. 

 

  



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 3 of 14 

 

4. Request is for a Special Use Permit for Payment in Lieu of providing parking spaces in 

order construct multiple dwelling units on the second and third floor of the Manchester 

Square building located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee Avenue in 

the C-1 Downtown Core Commercial District. 

 

Mr. Smith stated that the Planned Development is needed due to the increase in the maximum 

permitted density and the reduction in the minimum required number of parking spaces.  Mr. 

Smith stated that the petitioner is proposing a parking ratio of one parking space per apartment.  

He stated that the Zoning Code would require a parking ratio of 1.7 parking spaces per dwelling 

unit.  He stated that he Village’s traffic engineering consultant, Civil Tech, stated that an 

appropriate parking ratio should be 1.2 parking spaces per apartment. 

 

Mr. David Meek, attorney and agent for the petitioner, stated the proposal for them would permit 

the construction of 40 apartments that vary in size from studio up to 3 bedroom units.  He stated 

that the prior plans had proposed 14 large luxury condominium dwelling units. 

 

Mr. Jay Michael, petitioner representative, stated their firm has over eleven years of successfully 

constructing adaptive reuse residential facilities out of distressed multifamily buildings.  He 

stated that they have studied the Manchester Square building and are proposing the highest and 

best use for the second and third floors for this facility.   

 

Mr. Cory Dunne, D + K Architects, architect for the petitioner, stated that most of the proposed 

construction will take place on the interior of the building.  He stated that they will restore the 

roof and eliminate the pent house roof top access elements.  He stated that the plan to improve 

the alley located between their building and the building to the south as an artist alley to promote 

outdoor space and include outdoor lighting with café tables. 

 

Mr. Meek stated that the proposal will have minimum impact upon traffic and that this is 

supported by both the petitioner’s traffic consultant and the Village’s consultant.  He stated that 

this proposal complies with the merits of at Transit Oriented Development due to its close 

proximity to the Metra commuter station.  He stated that the T.O.D. philosophy supports a 

reduced need for parking as the residents will take advantage of the available public 

transportation and further supports the petitioner’s rationale for a one parking space per one 

apartment ratio.  He stated that the petition is not opposed to increasing the ratio to 1.2 parking 

spaces per apartment to be in line with the Village’s recommendation.   

 

Mr. Meek stated that the maximum density per the Zoning Code requires a minimum of 1,500 

square feet of land area per dwelling unit but that they are asking for relief by proposing forty 

apartments which on average equals to approximately 1,123 square feet of land area per dwelling 

unit.  He stated that the density should not have much of an impact on the community or 

downtown. 

 

Mr. James Engdahl, 234 West Maple Avenue, stated that the petitioner should be granted only 

what the Zoning Code allows.  He stated that he is an adjoining property owner and that he is 

concerned about the impact on parking.  He stated that the downtown is becoming too urban and 

this project is precedent setting. 



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 4 of 14 

 

Mr. Rod Buss, 31260 North River Road, stated that he is concerned about the impact that this 

proposal will have on the Village.  He stated that it will be the third largest residential building in 

the Village.  He stated that the central area will become overly dense if the trend continues.  He 

stated that condo’s would generate more property tax revenues than apartments would. 

 

Chairman Moore stated that questions or concerns about property taxes could be addressed with 

the Assessor’s office. 

 

Mr. Tom Conomy, 1480 North Milwaukee Avenue, stated that he is concerned about the impact 

upon parking in the downtown and the impact on the character of the Village of Libertyville, in 

particular Heritage Area. 

 

Commissioner Schultz asked for clarification of the parking study that Staff conducted in the 

downtown area. 

 

Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that the downtown parking 

survey was done to determine what the required parking would be if the land uses in the C-1 

District were not in the C-1 District as requested by the Plan Commission’s last hearing on that 

matter. 

 

Commissioner Schultz asked how the petitioner will entice renters with very limited parking 

available.  Mr. Mark Heffron, petitioner, stated that there are 35 parking spaces underground and 

32 of those shall be dedicated to residents, one will be dedicated to an I-Go vehicle.  He stated 

that he agrees to keep the residents from parking on the surface parking lot.  He stated that they 

initially wanted to have up to 8 parking spaces dedicated to the Manchester residents in the 

Newberry parking lot. 

 

Commissioner Schultz stated that he is concerned about the lack of parking provided for the 

number of apartments proposed and he is concerned about the proposed density itself. 

 

Mr. Dunne stated that the one bedroom apartments will be between 700 and 900 square feet in 

floor area, the two bedroom apartments will be between 1,100 and 1,300 square feet in floor area 

and the three bedroom apartments will be between 1,600 and 1,900 square feet in floor area.  He 

stated that after further studying the density they decided to bring down there proposed number 

of apartments from 52 to 40 units. 

 

Commissioner Schultz stated that he is still concerned about the impact on the lack of available 

parking.   

 

Mr. Meek stated that a study done by the Center of Neighborhood Technology indicated that car 

ownership within the vicinity is on average 1.1 cars per household. 

 

Mr. Heffron stated that they have seen other developments with fewer but larger units with three 

bedrooms have demonstrated that they have more vehicles.  He stated that the development with 

small units often produce fewer cars. 

 



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 5 of 14 

 

Mr. Meek stated that because of the proximity of the subject site to the Metra station it is 

anticipated that fewer cars will be generated otherwise.  He stated that the petitioner concurs with 

the suggestion that residents who are not able to park in the underground garage should be able 

to obtain parking stickers or tags and park either in the parking deck or in the Newberry public 

lot.  

 

Commissioner Schultz asked about the potential for resident bicycle usage and other shared 

transportation opportunities.  Mr. Meek stated that they will dedicate one underground parking 

space for an I-Go vehicle. 

 

Mr. Heffron stated that they will begin with one I-Go vehicle and monitor its usage before 

deciding to increase the number.  He stated that bike storage will be available for the residents as 

well. 

 

Mr. Jay Michael, petitioner, stated the shared transportation, I-Go, bikes and other forms of 

public transportation will be encouraged. 

 

Mr. Meek stated that there is a Pace bus stop on Milwaukee Avenue just north of the Metra 

railroad tracks. 

 

Commissioner Semmelman stated that he is worried about the use of the Newberry Avenue 

public parking lot for the Manchester residents due to its distance from the building. 

 

Commissioner Adams stated that he doesn’t buy into the one to one, apartment to parking space 

ratio.  He stated that parking in general is a problem.  He stated that he anticipates an additional 

700 restaurant seats coming to Libertyville soon.  He stated that the Manchester residential units 

should go back to condominiums. 

 

Commissioner Oakley asked about the requirements for handicap parking and accessibility.  Mr. 

Dunne stated that the motor court yard area has one handicap space.  He stated that all of the 

units will comply with the Illinois Accessibility Code. 

 

Commissioner Oakley asked about the rent for the affordable units.  Mr. Michael stated that the 

studios may rent for around $700 to $800. 

 

Commissioner Oakley asked if the units would revert from apartments to condos.  Mr. Michael 

stated that it is possible they could revert back to condos. 

 

Commissioner Oakley asked the petitioner to describe who the typical tenant would be.  Mr. 

Michael stated that the typical tenant would be someone who appreciates a shared transportation 

philosophy.  He stated that it should be a mixed demographics. 

 

Mr. Spoden stated that the petitioner is proposing that six (6) of the units be affordable.   

 

Chairman Moore asked if additional signage would be displayed in order to regulate where the 

residents can or cannot park.  He asked how the trash would be handled.  Mr. Heffron stated that 



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 6 of 14 

 

signage can be used as needed and that trash will be handled internally with a shoot system.  He 

stated that the maintenance staff will cart the trash receptacle out to the street. 

 

Chairman Moore asked if they can install curbing around the landscaped areas of the motor court 

area.  Mr. Heffron stated that they will look at installing the curbing provided that the drive aisle 

width permits it. 

 

Chairman Moore asked for clarification of what the Code would allow for density.  Mr. Spoden 

stated that the current Code would permit 29.9 dwelling units per the land area for the subject 

property. 

 

Chairman Moore stated that he likes the I-Go vehicle share idea.  

 

Mr. Heffron stated that with a new and younger generation, life styles are different with a diverse 

demographic and are more open to public transportation and vehicle sharing.  

 

Chairman Moore questioned Staff’s 1.2 parking spaces per dwelling unit recommendation. 

 

Mr. Spoden stated the Village is anticipating the future development of a second downtown 

parking deck.  He stated that the second and third floors have remained empty for 8 years.  He 

stated that the proposal before the Plan Commission tonight offers an opportunity to promote and 

maintain economic vitality in the downtown and fill the vacancy in the Manchester building. 

 

Chairman Moore stated that he is concerned about the proposed density. 

 

Mr. Spoden stated the subject site had previously included significant portions of the Lake Street 

and Milwaukee Avenue rights of way as private property.  He stated that their land area would 

have been larger in that scenario and would have allowed a higher residential density.   

 

Mr. Engdahl stated that if this petition gets approved it will create an even worse parking deficit. 

 

Mr. Meek stated that this is a supportable development. 

 

Mr. Spoden stated that the private surface parking lot on the west side of the building is intended 

to be used for the retail customers.  He stated it would be difficult to regulate the deck for the 

Manchester residents. 

 

Chairman Moore stated that leaves the Newberry lot for the Manchester residential overflow 

parking.  Chairman Moore asked the petitioner what they would like for the Plan Commission to 

do tonight. 

 

Mr. Meek stated that they would like for the Plan Commission to give their recommendation to 

the Village Board regarding their requests. 

 

Chairman Moore stated that they should discuss how to incorporate some of the Staff review 

comments into conditions for approval.  Mr. Moore stated that Planning Division Staff review 



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 7 of 14 

 

comments numbers 3, 6, 7, and 8 should be added as conditions for approval and worded to be 

complied with as much as possible or as feasible.    

 

In the matter of PC 14-14, Commissioner Semmelman moved, seconded by Commissioner 

Schultz, to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Special Use Permit for a 

Planned Development in order to construct multiple dwelling units on the second and third floor 

of the Manchester Square building located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee 

Avenue in the C-1, Downtown Core Commercial District, subject to the following conditions:  

 

1) Schedule final inspections for any outstanding building shell permits, complete any/all 

deficiencies found for the building shell, and pay any/all fees accruing for the building 

shell and related temporary occupancies at this building prior to the issuance of any 

occupancy permits whether temporary or final for the proposed apartments.   

 

2) That any Manchester residents parking outside of the underground garage of the 

Manchester building are to be regulated to either the Newberry Parking 

Customer/Employee section or the lowest level of the Parking Deck Employee section 

with the proper Village resident parking registration and tags for up to 15 vehicles.   

 
3) Restore the parkway with new soil and sod located between the north side of the building and 

Lake Street. 

 
4) Restore the landscaping in the motor courtyard in accordance with the approved landscape 

plan. 

 

5)  In the motor court add curbing throughout including the transitions between planting beds 

and driveway paving, also between driveway paving and sidewalks. 

 
6) In the west parking lot widen the north-south sidewalk against the building to 7 feet wide to 

the extent possible. 
 
7) At the south exterior service entry stairs from Tommy’s and Egg Harbor, replace with a more 

useful and attractive ramp for easier and better movement of garbage totes, etc. if feasible. 
 
8) In the motor courtyard re-plant trees and shrubs in accordance to the approved landscape 

plan. 

 

Motion failed 2 - 3. 

 

Ayes:  Oakley, Semmelman 

Nays:  Moore, Adams, Schultz 

Absent: Cotey, Donahue 

 

In the matter of PC 14-15, Commissioner Oakley moved, seconded by Commissioner 

Semmelman, to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Planned Development 

Concept Plan in order to construct multiple dwelling units on the second and third floor of the 



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 8 of 14 

 

Manchester Square building located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee 

Avenue in the C-1, Downtown Core Commercial District, subject to the following conditions:  

 

1) Schedule final inspections for any outstanding building shell permits, complete any/all 

deficiencies found for the building shell, and pay any/all fees accruing for the building 

shell and related temporary occupancies at this building prior to the issuance of any 

occupancy permits whether temporary or final for the proposed apartments. 

 

2) That any Manchester residents parking outside of the underground garage of the 

Manchester building are to be regulated to either the Newberry Parking 

Customer/Employee section or the lowest level of the Parking Deck Employee section 

with the proper Village resident parking registration and tags for up to 15 vehicles. 

 
3) Restore the parkway with new soil and sod located between the north side of the building and 

Lake Street. 

 

4) Restore the landscaping in the motor courtyard in accordance with the approved landscape 
plan. 

 

5)  In the motor court add curbing throughout including the transitions between planting beds 

and driveway paving, also between driveway paving and sidewalks. 

 
6) In the west parking lot widen the north-south sidewalk against the building to 7 feet wide to 

the extent possible. 
 
7) At the south exterior service entry stairs from Tommy’s and Egg Harbor, replace with a more 

useful and attractive ramp for easier and better movement of garbage totes, etc. if feasible. 
 
8) In the motor courtyard re-plant trees and shrubs in accordance to the approved landscape 

plan. 

 

Motion failed 2 - 3. 

 

Ayes:  Oakley, Semmelman 

Nays:  Moore, Adams, Schultz 

Absent: Cotey, Donahue 

 

In the matter of PC 14-16, Commissioner Semmelman moved, seconded by Commissioner 

Oakley, to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Planned Development Final Plan 

in order to construct multiple dwelling units on the second and third floor of the Manchester 

Square building located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee Avenue in the C-

1, Downtown Core Commercial District, subject to the following conditions:  

 

1) Schedule final inspections for any outstanding building shell permits, complete any/all 

deficiencies found for the building shell, and pay any/all fees accruing for the building 



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 9 of 14 

 

shell and related temporary occupancies at this building prior to the issuance of any 

occupancy permits whether temporary or final for the proposed apartments. 

 

2) That any Manchester residents parking outside of the underground garage of the 

Manchester building are to be regulated to either the Newberry Parking 

Customer/Employee section or the lowest level of the Parking Deck Employee section 

with the proper Village resident parking registration and tags for up to 15 vehicles. 

 
3) Restore the parkway with new soil and sod located between the north side of the building and 

Lake Street. 

 
4) Restore the landscaping in the motor courtyard in accordance with the approved landscape 

plan. 

 

5)  In the motor court add curbing throughout including the transitions between planting beds 

and driveway paving, also between driveway paving and sidewalks. 

 
6) In the west parking lot widen the north-south sidewalk against the building to 7 feet wide to 

the extent possible. 
 
7) At the south exterior service entry stairs from Tommy’s and Egg Harbor, replace with a more 

useful and attractive ramp for easier and better movement of garbage totes, etc. if feasible. 
 
8) In the motor courtyard re-plant trees and shrubs in accordance to the approved landscape 

plan. 

 

Motion failed 2 - 3. 

 

Ayes:  Oakley, Semmelman 

Nays:  Moore, Adams, Schultz 

Absent: Cotey, Donahue 

 

In the matter of PC 14-17, Commissioner Oakley moved, seconded by Commissioner 

Semmelman, to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Special Use Permit for 

Payment in Lieu of providing park spaces in order to construct multiple dwelling units on the 

second and third floor of the Manchester Square building located at the southwest corner of 

Lake Street and Milwaukee Avenue in the C-1, Downtown Core Commercial District, subject to 

the following conditions: 1) That the applicant shall pay a fee in lieu of required parking for not 

less than fifteen (15) parking spaces in the amount of $15,000 per parking space. 

 

Motion failed 2 - 3. 

 

Ayes:  Oakley, Semmelman 

Nays:  Moore, Adams, Schultz 

Absent: Cotey, Donahue 

 



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 10 of 14 

 

PC 12-01 Village of Libertyville, Applicant 

 

Request is for Text Amendments to Sections 2 and 11 of the Libertyville Zoning 

Code relating to sign regulations. 

 

Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that the Plan Commission may 

recall the previous public hearing meetings held in February, March and May in 2012 where 

discussion was focused on the Sign regulations for the C-1, C-2 and C-3 Districts, as well as 

Signs Permitted without Permit Section, and Special Exception Signs.  He stated that proposed 

changes to the Sign Code that reflect those public hearings in 2012 are presented in the attached 

addendum entitled “Article 11” which is the Sign Regulation chapter of the Zoning Code.  He 

stated that this attached document includes the proposed changes highlighted and redlined for the 

Commission’s convenience and is in draft form. 

 

Mr. Spoden stated that in April of this year a Sign Code Task Force was assembled to review and 

discuss the proposed changes to Libertyville’s Sign Code and offer their recommendations.  He 

stated that this independent group was made up of various Commission members, representatives 

from Libertyville’s five commercial zoning districts and four sign companies.  He stated that 

during three meetings, the Task Force reviewed the proposed changes and gave 

recommendations on the direction of the Sign Code.  He stated that these recommendations are 

attached in a memo form dated June 6, 2014. 

 

Mr. Spoden stated that Staff is recommending that the public hearing be opened and that 

discussion about the proposed sign changes and the Sign Code Task Force recommendations be 

deliberated for an eventual recommendation to the Village Board. 

 

Ms. Johanna Bye, Associate Planner, introduced the proposed amendments to the Zoning Code 

relative to the Sign regulations. 

 

Ms. Bye stated that regarding Zoning Code section 11-3.4(a)1, (Internal Illumination), Staff proposed 

changes included the following: 

 

 Only allow sign copy and logos to be translucent, with sign backgrounds opaque. 

 This is currently only required in the C-1 Zoning District; the proposed update would 

require it everywhere. 

 

Ms. Bye stated that the Task Force recommended the following: 

 

 The section should clarify that this is for cabinet signs, not signs with individual channel 

letters. The Village may also want to exclude reader boards from this requirement, 

though diffusers should be required. 

 The Task Force disagreed on whether or not opaque backgrounds are necessary. It was 

noted that this might limit creativity and branding. It was recommended by a member that 

only signs larger than thirty-two (32) square feet with a white background be required to 

be opaque.  



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 11 of 14 

 

The Plan Commission concurred with the Staff recommendation for section 11-3.4(a)1. 

 

Ms. Bye stated that regarding Zoning Code section 11-3.9(b) (Sign Area), Staff proposed 

changes included the following: 

 

 Simplify how sign area is calculated by stating that sign area shall be measured as the 

smallest common geometric form that can be drawn around the periphery of the entire 

sign. 

 

She stated that the Task Force recommended the following: 

 

 The Village should keep the current regulation, which allows measurement around each 

individual letter when determining the sign area. This allows for creative freedom and 

may prevent clients from choosing more basic signs. 

 Sign companies should be required provide the area of the sign when submitting for 

permits. 

 

The Plan Commission concurred with the Staff recommendation for section 11-3.9(b). 

 

Ms. Bye stated that regarding Zoning Code section 11-7 (Sign Permitted Without Sign Permit - 

Real Estate Signs), Staff proposed changes included the following: 

 

 Reduce the allowable size of residential real estate signs from twelve (12) to six (6) 

square feet.  

 

She stated that the Task Force recommended the following: 

 

 The standard For Sale sign is three (3) square feet (24” by 18”), though some builders in 

the area have signs that are larger. 

 Open House signs should only be permitted during the duration of the event. 

 

The Plan Commission concurred with the Task Force recommendation for section 11-7. 

 

Ms. Bye stated that regarding Zoning Code section 11-8.1(c) (Temporary Pennants, Banners and 

Other Attraction Devices – Special Events and Promotions), Staff proposed changes included the 

following: 

 

 Allow temporary signage to be no larger than sixteen (16) square feet. 

 Currently the amount of temporary signage permitted is related to the size of the tenant 

space, just like permanent signage. 

 

She stated that the Task Force recommended: 



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 12 of 14 

 

 Bump up permitted square footage to eighteen (18) square feet. 

 Civic and community events should be removed from the description of “Special Events 

and Promotions.” 

 The Village may want to address sponsorship signage for events such as Out to Lunch 

and the Farmers Market, which is not traditionally regulated. 

 

The Plan Commission concurred with the Task Force recommendation for section 11-8.1(c) and 

to further limit the number of signs to one. 

 

Ms. Bye stated that regarding Zoning Code section 11-8.2 (Construction Signs), Staff proposed 

changes included: 

 

 Reduce the size permitted for non-residential construction signs from sixty-four (64) 

square feet to sixteen (16) square feet. 

 

She stated that the Task Force recommended: 

 

 Bump up permitted square footage to thirty-two (32) square feet. 

 The Village should limit the number to one (1) instead of two (2) construction signs in 

residential areas and potentially limit who can put up the sign. It was recommended that 

just the contractor be allowed to post a sign, though they can list subcontractors on it. 

 The Village should permit one (1) construction sign per street frontage in non-residential 

zoning districts. 

 

The Plan Commission concurred with the Task Force recommendation for section 11-8.2 and 

added that a residential construction sign be limited to not exceed six (6) square feet. 

 

Ms. Bye stated that regarding Zoning Code section 11-8.3 (Non-Residential Real Estate Signs), 

Staff proposed changes included: 

 

 Reduce the size permitted in the C-1 and C-2 Zoning Districts from twenty-four (24) 

square feet to twelve (12) square feet. 

 Allow these signs to be up for no more than six (6) months, with the ability to extend the 

time period an additional six (6) months with approval from the Village Administrator. 

 The current Sign Code allows non-residential real estate signs to stay up until all vacant 

spaces have been leased or a sale on the property has closed. 

 

She stated that the Task Force recommended: 

 

 Bump up permitted square footage to sixteen (16) square feet.  

 The time these signs are up is not necessarily the issue, but rather the quality and 

maintenance of the signs. The Task Force discussed allowing the applicant to keep the 



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 13 of 14 

 

sign up for longer than one (1) year, but that the sign be reviewed every six (6) months 

and that the Village require replacement if it has deteriorated. 

 

The Plan Commission concurred with the Task Force recommendation for section 11-8.3 but 

recommended that the sign be reviewed every year, not six months.  They further recommended 

that these signs be incorporated into multi-tenant panels. 

 

Ms. Bye stated that regarding Zoning Code section 11-8.8 (Portable Sidewalk Signs) Staff 

proposed changes included: 

 

 Create a new section in the Sign Code that regulates portable A-frame signs in the C-1 

through C-4 zoning districts, which are currently prohibited. 

 One proposed regulation is the restriction of portable sign design in the C-1 and C-2 

zoning districts by only allowing painted or exposed wood frames with chalkboard faces.  

 

She stated that the Task Force recommended: 

 

 Limit design restrictions to not allow white plastic frames and faces in the C-1 and C-2 

zoning districts only, but to otherwise allow artistic freedom. 

 The Task Force recommended that only first-floor be businesses be allowed to have these 

signs, only A-frame style signs be permitted, and that a business be allowed one (1) sign 

per facade entrance. 

The Plan Commission recommended that Staff do additional research and come back with 

additional recommendations regarding this section. 

 

Chairman Moore recommended that discussion on Sign regulations be deferred to the next Plan 

Commission meeting. 

 

In the matter of PC 12-01, Commissioner Schultz moved, seconded by Commissioner Adams, to 

continue this item to the August 25, 2014, Plan Commission meeting. 

 

Motion carried 5 - 0. 

 

Ayes:  Moore, Adams, Oakley, Schultz, Semmelman 

Nays:  None 

Absent: Cotey, Donahue 

 

COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCUSSION: None. 

 

Commissioner Schultz moved, seconded by Commissioner Semmelman, to adjourn the Plan 

Commission meeting. 

 



Minutes of the August 11, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 14 of 14 

 

Motion carried 5 - 0. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 9:59 p.m. 


